### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

DEC 27 1993

AILEEN C. WUORNOS, :

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Appellant,

Case No. 81,466

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is taken from a judgment of guilt for first-degree murder and sentence of death imposed by the Circuit Court for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, Pasco County. The appellant, Aileen Carol Wuornos, has three other capital appeals pending in this Court, case numbers 79,484, 81,059, and 81,498.

References to the record on appeal are designated by "R" and the page number. References to the transcript of the penalty phase trial are designated by "T" and the page number. References to the appendix to this brief are designated by "A" and the page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 16, 1991, the Pasco County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, Aileen Carol Wuornos, for the first-degree murder of Charles E. Carskaddon between May 31 and June 6, 1990. (R 1)
On June 22, 1992, Wuornos appeared with counsel before the Honorable Lynn Tepper, Circuit Judge, and pleaded guilty. (R 30-34, 190-211)

On July 14, 1992, the court granted defense counsel's motion for the appointment of experts to examine Wuornos and determine her competency to proceed. (R 56-58, 61-62, 241-48) On September 17, 1992, the court found Wuornos competent. (R 70, 282, 285-86)

On January 25, 1993, the penalty phase trial was conducted before the Honorable Wayne L. Cobb, Circuit Judge. (T 1-182) Wuornos appeared with counsel and waived her rights to have a jury, to present mitigating evidence, and to be present. (R 92-94; T 10-32) On February 5, 1993, the court adjudicated Wuornos guilty of first-degree murder and sentenced her to death. (R 100-12, 119-28) Defense counsel filed a notice of appeal. (R 113)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### A. Plea Hearing

Defense counsel first tendered a plea of no contest, which the court rejected. (R 192-96) Wuornos then decided to plead guilty. (R 196) A written plea form signed by Wuornos was modified to reflect the guilty plea. (R 30-34, 196-97)

The court placed Wuornos under oath, (R 197-98) then inquired to determine that she had a ninth grade education, was not taking any medication, was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs, and had never been adjudged incompetent. Wuornos said, "I should have been on my confessional transcripts in videotaping." (R 198) The court then determined that Wuornos was not claiming to be incompetent at the present time, but felt she was incompetent on the date of the offense because "I was drunk and everything else." (R 199) The court explained that intoxication does not make someone incompetent, but it can be a defense, and she was waiving the defense by pleading guilty. Wuornos said she understood, then indicated she wanted to take her case to the Supreme Court because she could not get a fair trial. (R 199)

The court attempted to explain that if Wuornos's plea was accepted, she could only appeal the validity of the court's acceptance of her plea and not her guilt or intoxication defense. (R 199-200) Wuornos responded, "I ain't never going to get a fair trial. I'm pleading guilty in self-defense and I am not going to go through a trial." (R 200) The court told her she was making it difficult for the court to accept her plea. Wuornos answered, "I'm

pleading guilt--I'm guilty. I killed him. But I'm saying self-defense right to my grave." (R 200) The court asked if she understood that she was waiving her right to self-defense and could not argue self-defense to the Supreme Court. (R 200-01) Wuornos responded that she wanted to "get the crooked cops," she did not care about a trial or her own death. (R 201)

The court then asked defense counsel if he had discussed Wuornos's concerns with her. Counsel said he had done so at great length, and Wuornos understood she was giving up her defenses of self-defense, intoxication, and insanity. He asserted that "she understands exactly what is happening here and she is competent to make these decisions." (R 201) The court then determined that Wuornos understood she could not challenge the actions of the police in taking her statement. (R 201-02)

Defense counsel told the court that four doctors had examined Wuornos and reported that she was competent to go to trial and was not insane at the time of the offense. He also stated his personal belief that she was not insane, understood what was going on, and was in full control of her mental faculties. (R 202) The court then questioned Wuornos to learn that she had never been treated for mental illness, had discussed her case with counsel, and was satisfied with his services. (R 202-03) She had read the plea form and said she understood it and signed it freely and voluntarily. (R 203-04) Defense counsel assured the court that he had gone over the form with Wuornos and she understood it. The court had her sign the changes in the form. She also complained about her

treatment at the county jail, claiming they nearly killed her the last time she was there. (R 204)

As a factual basis for the plea, the prosecutor said the State could prove that Carskaddon was last seen alive on May 31, 1990, when he left home on a trip to Tampa in his Cadillac. He possessed a firearm. (R 205) His body was found in Pasco County on June 6, 1990, but his vehicle and its contents were missing. The medical examiner determined that gunshot wounds were the cause of death. Eight ".20 caliber" bullets were recovered from the body. vehicle was found. Wuornos was arrested and admitted shooting Carskaddon and six others. (R 206) All of the victims had been shot numerous times, and all but one were shot with a .22 caliber revolver. (R 206-07) Wuornos had been seen in possession of Carskaddon's car and had pawned his gun. She indicated that all of the deaths were the result of self-defense. (R 207)

When the court offered Wuornos the opportunity to speak about the facts of the case, she complained about lies in the news accounts of her cases, crooked police officers, the unjust judicial system, a movie portraying her as the first female serial killer, and police officers receiving \$500,000 each for the movie contract. (R 207-09) She also asserted that her confession "stated self-defense totally, which they hid from the jury at the Mallory trial, and they have hid from the public eye." (R 208-09) The court explained that this issue was subject to appeal in that case, but there would be no guilt phase to appeal in this case because of her guilty plea. Wuornos agreed that this was what she wanted to do.

(R 209) Wuornos complained about a former defense attorney, but she was pleased with her present attorney. (R 210)

The court found there was a factual basis for the plea, and it was entered knowingly, intelligently, freely, and voluntarily with the assistance of competent counsel. The court accepted the plea. (R 210-11) When the court scheduled the penalty phase trial for July 14, Wuornos sought to waive her presence. (R 212-17)

### B. Competency Determination

On July 14, 1992, defense counsel presented a letter from Dr. Harry Krop, who had been appointed to provide confidential advice to the defense, stating that he had re-examined Wuornos on July 10, 1992, and found that she was delusional, perceived her lawyer as part of a conspiracy, was incompetent to proceed, and that her ability to rationally participate in plea bargaining was significantly impaired. (R 49-51, 176, 241-42) Defense counsel explained that he requested the re-evaluation because he had seen a "particularly bizarre" change in Wuornos's behavior over the last 30 days. Counsel questioned whether Wuornos had been competent to waive her presence. (R 242) Counsel asked the court to have another expert evaluate Wuornos. (R 243) The court granted the request and entered orders appointing Dr. Donald DelBeato and Dr. Joel Epstein to evaluate Wuornos's competence to stand trial. (R 56-58, 61-62, 243-48)

Dr. DelBeato reported that he examined Wuornos on August 7, 1992. (R 177, p. 1) He found that she was competent to stand trial, but she suffered from a borderline/antisocial personality

disorder. (R 177, p. 3-5) Dr. Epstein reported that he examined Wuornos on August 6, 1992. (R 178, p. 1) He found that she was competent, but she suffered from a personality disorder. (R 178, p. 2, 5)

On September 17, 1992, the court conducted a competency hearing with defense counsel appearing by telephone. (R 282-86) Defense counsel stipulated that the court could make its finding based on the reports submitted by Dr. DelBeato and Dr. Epstein. The court found Wuornos competent. (R 286)

### C. Penalty Phase

On December 10, 1992, the court granted a State motion to have Wuornos examined by mental health experts for the purpose of presenting penalty phase evidence and ordered examinations by Dr. Sydney Merin and Dr. Daniel Sprehe. (R 78-79) On January 7, 1993, Dr. Sprehe reported that he attempted to examine Wuornos on January 6, 1993, but she refused to cooperate during a "rather brief" interview in which she explained that she had waived mitigation. Dr. Sprehe concluded that Wuornos was competent and there was a reasonable medical probability, but not a reasonable medical certainty, that she had a personality problem but was not under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and her capacity was not substantially impaired. (R 179) There is no record of any report filed by Dr. Merin.

The State filed two pretrial motions in limine. The first sought to preclude the defense from presenting a claim of self-defense on the ground that it was foreclosed by Wuornos's guilty

plea. (R 83-84) The second sought to exclude evidence that Richard Mallory, the Volusia County murder victim, had committed or was prosecuted for a prior rape. (R 85-86)

The motions were heard at the beginning of the penalty phase trial on January 25, 1993. (T 5) Defense counsel informed the court that he would not present the contested evidence about Mallory. (T 6) Regarding the first motion, the prosecutor argued that evidence of residual doubt is not admissible. (T 6-7)Defense counsel argued that the State was going to try to prove that the crime was cold, calculated, and premeditated, so the defense was entitled to rebut the claim that there was no pretense of legal justification by showing that Wuornos thought she was acting in self-defense. (T 7-8) When the court asked what evidence he would present, defense counsel stated that he could play Wuornos's 3 1/2 hour confession, in which she said "selfdefense" over 40 times, or he could ask Detective Horzepa how many times she mentioned self-defense during the confession. Also, it would come out during the doctors' testimony. (T 8-9) The court ruled that Wuornos could testify she thought it was self-defense, but it was not otherwise admissible. (T 9) Counsel responded that in one or two cases Wuornos explained why she felt threatened and did the only thing she thought possible, and the doctor would explain she felt that way because of her lack of insight and personality disorder. (T 9-10)

Defense counsel then informed the court that Wuornos wanted to waive the jury, presentation of mitigating evidence, and her

presence. (T 10-13) Wuornos was present following a recess. (T 14-15) The court determined that defense counsel had discussed the waiver of mitigating evidence with her, and asked counsel to state what evidence would have been presented. (T 15)

Defense counsel responded that Dr. Krop would have testified Wuornos suffered from a borderline personality disorder, and Dr. DelBeato would say she had signs of both antisocial and borderline personality disorders. (T 16) In Dixie County, the court allowed jury instructions on three mitigating circumstances: extreme mental or emotional distress, impaired capacity, and nonstatutory factors. (T 16-17) The Dixie County court allowed counsel to argue self-defense as her state of mind. Det. Horzepa testified that Wuornos mentioned self-defense over 40 times and explained how the men raped or assaulted her and how she reacted. (T 17)

Defense counsel further stated that Wuornos's sister, Lori Groddy, testified that Wuornos was adopted, and there were signs she was developing an antisocial personality in adolescence. Wuornos had trouble with school and truancy. She had a hearing deficit for which she never received help. Her parents were told she needed counseling, but she never received it. Wuornos became a prostitute at age 16. She became pregnant when she was 13 or 14 and had to hide it from her family. She was sent to a home for runaway mothers, and the child was taken away from her. She spent some time in the Adrian School for Girls reformatory. Her brother was also sent to a reformatory. The two adopted children had trouble, while the family's natural children did not. (T 17-19)

Finally, Dr. Krop would testify that Wuornos's family was dysfunctional, and Wuornos suffers from alcohol dependency. (T 19) The prosecutor asserted that Dr. Krop also found Wuornos was competent to decide not to be present. (T 19)

The court then asked Wuornos if she wanted to waive her right to present mitigating evidence. (T 19) She answered yes and added that she did not want to be present. She explained that she felt it was unnecessary because she already had five death sentences. She complained that male serial killers only receive about two death sentences, while she was being dragged through every case for no reason but "political limelighting and promotional gain or capital gain you can receive off of these." She was tired of it and wanted to waive everything. "I don't care. I just want to go back to death row and be left alone." (T 19-20)

The court asked Wuornos if she had been present in the sentencing phase. (T 20-21) She replied she had been present through all these things. She said.

I understand exactly what's going on, and I understand, too the conspiracy of trying to find any kind of reaping off of these cases, off of my blood, before I go to the chair.

This is unnecessary. I've got five death sentences. Why one more? How many times do you people want to kill me? You can only kill me once.

(T 21)

The court then determined that Wuornos understood what the sentencing phase was for, and there would be an automatic appeal of any death sentence, while an appeal from a life sentence was optional. (T 21) Wuornos responded that she did not expect a life

sentence, it was too late to change the dirt and conspiracy by the court, prosecutors, and police. If her sentence were overturned to life, she would "tell them I'll kill again." She wanted an acquittal or death, declaring, "I know I'm innocent. God knows I'm innocent. But you people are not innocent in what you're doing to me through these cases." (T 21-22)

The court told Wuornos defense counsel represented her and recommended that she present mitigating evidence, and asked if she were familiar with that evidence. She answered that she knew all about it, adding, "I don't give a shit, do you understand that? I don't care." (T 22) When asked if she wanted counsel to present the evidence, she said the court could sentence her to death right then, it did not matter to her, she would waive an appeal. "All I care about is going to God, because I know I'm innocent. And letting God take care of you people on earth for the dirt that you did to my cases." (T 22) Finally, she said she did not want counsel to present the evidence, stating that she was not afraid to die, and reiterating that God was on her side, and she was inno-(T 23) Wuornos asserted that she did not want to go cent. through any more trials because the prosecutors would continue to lie about her. She intended to write a book to reveal the truth. (T 23-25)

The court asked Wuornos if she wanted a jury to recommend a sentence. Wuornos replied that she would not accept life. She did not care what the jury said because they had been told so many lies. She preferred to have the court sentence her because she

just wanted to be left alone. (T 25-26) The court determined that Wuornos had discussed this with defense counsel and understood that he recommended having a jury. (T 26-27) The court also determined that Wuornos did not want to be present for the penalty phase trial. (T 27)

The prosecutor provided written waiver forms for the rights to be present, to present mitigating evidence, and to have a jury. Wuornos read and signed the forms. (R 92-94; T 28) The court recommended that Wuornos should be present and should present mitigating evidence to a jury, but Wuornos reasserted her desire to waive those rights. (T 29) She again complained about people seeking promotions and publicity from her cases and that they wanted to kill her and did not care about her innocence. (T 29) The court asked if defense counsel had told her it would allow her to present some evidence of her belief that she acted in self-defense. Wuornos replied yes, but it did not matter because the public had been told so many lies. (T 30)

Wuornos complained that the judge who presided at her trial in another case made a mockery of the trial and was totally on the State's side. She felt she would never get a fair trial, saying she was "spit on, laughed at, mocked at and lied upon." She felt no one cared because of "the number," and because she was a prostitute, a female, and a hitchhiker. (T 31) When the court accepted her waiver of her rights, Wuornos said, "I'm sick of this shit," and, "Let's just get the fucking thing over." (T 31-32)

The court recessed before resuming the proceedings in Wuornos's absence. (T 32-33)

The court admitted four State exhibits without objection. Each exhibit was a certified copy of Wuornos's prior judgments and sentences. Exhibit 1 was for robbery in Volusia County. Exhibit 2 was for first-degree murder and robbery in Marion County. Exhibit 3 was for first-degree murder and armed robbery in Marion County. Exhibit 4 was for first-degree murder and armed robbery in Citrus County. (T 33-34) The prosecutor said Detective Pinner would bring certified copies of Wuornos's first-degree murder judgment and sentence from Dixie County. Defense counsel offered to stipulate to that fact if the prior record was established. The prosecutor asked the court not to consider an additional first-degree murder conviction in Volusia County. (T 34)

Detective Thomas Muck of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office testified that two fishermen found a body near Pittman Pond about two miles west of the I-75 and State Road 52 intersection on June 6, 1990. (T 35-36) Muck went to the scene and saw a nude body under a green electric blanket. (T 36) No personal belongings were found. (T 36-37) Muck learned that another man's body was found in Citrus County on June 1, and there had been similar homicides in other counties. (T 37) Florence Carskaddon called Muck and said her son Charles' Cadillac, shown in State's exhibit 5, had been recovered near the interstate in Marion County on June 13. Charles Carskaddon's body was identified from fingerprints on September 12. (T 38) He was 40 years old. Bullets were recovered

from his body and submitted to the FDLE lab, which determined that they were .22 caliber and were fired from a weapon with a six right twist. (T 137)

Law enforcement officers from Citrus, Marion, Volusia,

Dixie, and Pasco Counties formed a task force. Wuornos and Tyria

Moore became suspects. Muck found that Wuornos had lived in Pasco

County in 1985. (T 39) Wuornos was arrested in Daytona Beach on

January 9. She had a key to a storage room which was searched

pursuant to a warrant. The officers found Carskaddon's Indian

blanket and personal property from other victims. (T 40) Exhibit

6 was a photo of the blanket and other items. (T 41) The officers

found Carskaddon's .45 automatic pistol, exhibit 8, at the Labosca

Investments pawn shop. It had been pawned by Wuornos under the

name Cammie Greene. The fingerprint on the pawn ticket, exhibit 7,

matched Wuornos's. (T 41-43) The pistol had been purchased by

Carskaddon from a gun shop in Kentucky, as shown by exhibit 9, a

federal firearm transaction record. (T 42-44)

Wuornos made a videotaped confession in which she admitted shooting Carskaddon. (T 44) On cross-examination, defense counsel asked whether Wuornos mentioned self-defense. Muck believed she did, but he was not certain. (T 45)

Pasco County crime scene technician Brian MacMillan testified that he went to the Pittman Pond scene on June 6, 1990. He photographed the green blanket covering the body, exhibit 10. (T 46-47) He also took aerial photos of the crime scene, exhibits 11 and 12, a photo of the area around the body before it was uncov-

ered, exhibit 13, a photo of the uncovered body, exhibit 14, and a photo of the car in Ocala, exhibit 5. (T 48-50) MacMillan processed the car, but he did not find any items of personal property. (T 50) He compared Carskaddon's known prints from Boise, Idaho, with fingerprints from the body and found they were identical. (T 51) He compared Wuornos's known prints with the print on the pawn ticket, exhibit 8, and found that it matched Wuornos's right thumb. (T 51-52)

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