#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AILEEN CAROL WUORNOS,

Appellant,

FILED

MAR 28 1994

v.

CASE NO. 81,46 LERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #302015
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

This case is distinguishable from <u>Power v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 856, 864 (Fla. 1982), <u>Crump v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 963, 972 (Fla. 1993), and <u>Gore v. State</u>, 599 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 1992). There is no evidence of a fit of rage in this case. There is no evidence of a plan to rape that went awry. There is no evidence of a robbery that got out of hand. There is evidence that Wuornos was in possession of the property of her victims and that each robbery victim ended up dead. The evidence that Wuornos was a ruthless highwaywoman is admissible to, and does, dispel Wuornos' claim of self-defense or prostitution gone bad.

No pretense of legal or moral justification has been established. There is no pretense of justification where the victim has not threatened the defendant. Williamson v. State, 511 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1987). Although Wuornos generally discussed self-defense she waived such defense when entering a plea and provided no specific details to even justify any finding of residual doubt of guilt based on such defense in the penalty phase. There may have been a "pretense" with one or two murders but the sheer number of Wuornos' victims presents the ludicrous portrait of a serial killer continually acting in "self-defense."

testimony of Bobby Copas reflects that Wuornos initially sought simply a ride home to Daytona Beach from Copas. It was after Copas cashed a check that Wuornos began to proposition him so that she could quietly lure him to a remote area (R P.P. 64-68). Her mood was not the result of mental imbalance but an increasing impatience to relieve Copas of his money. There was no evidence of mad acts prompted by wild emotion. Dr. Barnard did not feel that Wuornos was at any time psychotic during her offenses (R 178). Dr. Epstein found no ongoing psychotic process or thought disturbance which would mitigate her responsibility to control her own behavior (R 178). Dr. Sprehe found that Wuornos was not suffering from any major demonstrable mental or emotional problems at the time of the charge and though she had a long standing personality problem, this would not qualify as being under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. It was his opinion that she had the capacity to appreciate the criminality of her conduct and to

conform that conduct to the requirements of the law (R 179). Aside from the absence of mitigating emotional volatility also absent is any hypothesized trigger for "wild emotion."

Contrary to appellant's assertion, witness elimination testimony can be relied upon to defeat Wuornos' claim of a of self-defense. The state have pretense may consideration of witness elimination as an aggravating factor but that does not mean that the underlying factual scenario supporting the witness elimination aggravating factor cannot be considered for other purposes. The witness elimination factor and the CCP factor are not incompatible, see, Cooper v. State, 492 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1986), and merely because the finding of factor is not sought does not mean another aggravating circumstance cannot be found.

Wuornos' repeated statements that she acted in self-defense were not even believed by her. The fact that everyone whose property Wuornos came into possession of was found dead in a secluded area and that Wuornos took steps to conceal the crime by covering the bodies and washing the vehicles down to remove prints surely defeats any spurious claim of self-defense and such evidence was admissible for that very purpose.

#### B. Committed During the Commission of a Robbery

Appellant ignores the fact that Wuornos' claim of self-defense in her tape recorded confession to Detective Horzepa was contradicted by her other statements (R P.P. 166). Wuornos said she killed the victims to avoid detection so she could continue her trade (R P.P. 167-68). She shot Carskaddon eight times in a

vital area, far beyond what was needed to incapacitate a rambunctious "John." She was not so distraught at this "affray" that she could not think to take his .45 to pawn (R P.P. 41-43); his Indian blanket to put in her storage bin (R P.P. 40); and his Cadillac to bring home before abandoning it (R P.P. 116-117).

Unless a defendant announces her intention or confesses there usually is no direct evidence of a plan to rob and kill. There is no reasonable hypothesis that Wuornos planned only prostitution but something triggered the shooting and Wuornos took Carskaddon's property to conceal the crime and his car to get away. She overkilled with eight shots. That is far beyond mere self-defense and consistent with her statement she didn't want to be detected and wanted to continue her trade. Her claim of self-defense also weakens with each robbery murder. occurred as an adjunct to prostitution she had a duty to give up the profession. Since a robbery accompanied each murder the only scenario is that she killed the victims to escape detection for the robbery, which is essentially what Wuornos stated. Appellee would submit to the court that the "after-thought robbery" theory inconsistent with a claim of self-defense and certainly inconsistent in the case of multiple robbery-murders. identity in these robberies could properly be established by evidence of her prior robberies since they involved major highways, isolated areas, the same weapon and bullets, same modus operandi, taking of a getaway automobile and personal property. These factual similarities establish a unique crime pattern. See, State v. Ackers, 599 So. 2d 222 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

This case can be distinguished from <u>Clark v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 1992), and <u>Jones v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 143, 146 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Clark</u>, the clear motive for the murder was to obtain the victim's job. In <u>Jones</u>, the defendant picked up a police officer's weapon after a gun battle. In both cases it is apparent that the taking of property was an after-thought.

### C. <u>Prior Capital Felony Convictions</u>

The sentencing judge found the aggravating circumstance of previous conviction of a capital felony or felony involving the use or threat of violence. §921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991). This finding was based on five prior convictions for first degree murder and several counts of robbery (R P.P. 102).

It was not improper for the court to include the Volusia County murder conviction in finding this aggravating circumstance even though the state did not seek application of the factor based on this conviction. The judge was specifically advised of the existence of the judgment and sentence for murder in the first degree in Volusia County by the prosecutor, which statement went uncontradicted by the defense (R P.P. 340). Defense counsel had previously filed a motion in limine regarding "new" evidence that the first victim Richard Mallory had been convicted of a sex crime and spent ten years in prison, although at the penalty phase counsel did not have a witness in support of conviction in order to make the claim in good faith (R 135; P.P. The court was made aware of such judgment and it is also a matter of public record. Considerable testimony was introduced concerning the murder of Mr. Mallory, including

Wuornos' confession to the same (R P.P. 149-168). Defense counsel even argued the Mallory case, claiming that something happened with Mallory, the first murder victim, that turned into a monster (R P.P. 180). Such judgment Wuornos conviction is also before this court in case number 79,484 and can and should be considered by the court in its review of the See, Cabana v. Bullock, 474 U.S. 376 (1986); instant sentence. Clemons v. Mississippi, 110 S.Ct. 1441, 1446 (1990). Should the Volusia conviction or any other conviction be found infirm, consideration of it in this case is harmless considering the many other convictions and aggravating evidence, Cf. Preston v. State, 2d 120 (Fla. 1990), assuming the sentencing judge considered it.

Defense counsel stipulated to the Dixie County conviction for first-degree murder (R P.P. 34; 172). This conviction is before this court in case number 81,498, in any event, and properly should be considered by this court in its review capacity.

Defense counsel acknowledged Wuornos' prior convictions of capital offenses, which are before this court. Counsel used them as mitigation ammunition, arguing that Wuornos had four other death sentences and would serve a minimum of 100 years in prison if each was commuted to life (R P.P. 177). Only criminal activity, not convictions for that activity must occur prior to the murder for which a defendant is being sentenced in order to establish an aggravating circumstance. Pardo v. State, 563 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1990).

Considering Wuornos' numerous convictions of first-degree murder and robbery, any improper consideration of the above two convictions could only be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Bowden v. State, 588 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1991); Owen v. State, 596 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 1992).

Wuornos stated that she killed the victim(s) to avoid detection so she could continue her trade and such evidence would support a finding of witness elimination. Cf., Remeta v. State, 522 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1988); Lopez v. State, 536 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1988). Thus, the sentencing court could have found an additional aggravating factor in this case. Where an aggravator is established on the record this court can consider it even if it is not considered by the trial court. DeAngelo v. State, 616 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1993).

In the event that any of the above aggravating factors should be overturned, in light of the circumstances of this crime, the numerous remaining aggravators, and lack of mitigation, any erroneous finding of an aggravating factor was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. See, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986). If there is no likelihood of a different sentence, a trial court's reliance on an invalid aggravator is harmless. Burns v. State, 609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1992).

## V. THE FELONY MURDER AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE IS NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD.

This court has previously rejected the argument that the felony murder aggravating circumstance renders a finding of

aggravation automatic. This court held that "the legislative determination that a first-degree murder that occurs in the course of another dangerous felony in an aggravated capital felony is reasonable." Mills v. State, 476 So. 2d 172, 178 (Fla. 1985); see also, Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982). The fact that there are numerous dangerous felonies does not mean that there is a lack of channeling as to this aggravator. Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988), a death sentence was challenged on the grounds that the jury could just repeat one of its findings from the guilt phase. The court upheld the statute, reasoning that the required narrowing function had occurred at the quilt phase. Certiorari has been dismissed in Tennessee v. Middlebrooks as improvidently granted. 126 L.Ed.2d 555 (1993). There are no federal decisions contrary to this court's position. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT FAIL TO FIND AND WEIGH MITIGATING VI. CIRCUMSTANCES.

Appellant first complains that the trial court failed to find and weigh the mitigating circumstance that "the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance." §921.141(6)(b), Florida Statutes (1991).

In the penalty phase defense counsel referred the court to doctors' reports in the court file (R P.P. 174). Dr. Krop had been originally appointed to provide confidential advice to the defense. He saw Wuornos on January 9, 1992. He diagnosed her as having Borderline Personality Disorder. That he later found on July 10, 1992, that she had decompensated during incarceration

and diagnosed her as suffering at that time from a delusional disorder, persecutory type (R 176) adds nothing new or relevant to her mental status in June, 1990, at the time of the murder. Thus, the most Dr. Krop had to say about Wuornos at the time of the murder was that she had a Borderline Personality Disorder. Dr. Del Beato's diagnostic impression of Wuornos was that of Antisocial/Borderline Personality (R 177). Dr. Epstein also indicated that she had a personality disorder (R 178). Dr. Sprehe also found that Wuornos had a long standing personality problem (R 179).

Dr. Del Beato found that Wuornos was not psychotic. Wuornos revealed no trigger to him that would have set her off at the time of the murder of Mr. Carskaddon. She never indicated that her action was even the result of a volatile mental or emotional state and, in fact, indicated to the contrary, that she killed "them" in cold blood (R 177).

Dr. Barnard did not feel that Wuornos was at any time psychotic during her offenses (R 178).

Dr. Epstein determined that Wuornos' reasoning and judgment were not significantly compromised by any organic mental defect, insufficiency, illness or transient emotional state. He found no indication of a thought disorder. She recalled events in detail and her consciousness did not appear clouded during the time of the murders. She acknowledged she had done wrong by killing other human beings. There was no evidence of an underlying schizophrenic disorder. Dr. Epstein further reported that Wuornos' "thinking and reasoning abilities do not appear to

reflect any pathological processes but are seen as that of an immature or unsophisticated individual." Dr. Epstein found no evidence of any significant mental defect or organic deterioration. Dr. Epstein concluded that "there appears to be no on-going psychotic process or thought disturbance which would mitigate her responsibility to control her own behavior (R 178).

Based on his review of materials Dr. Sprehe concluded within a reasonable medical probability that Wuornos was not suffering from any major demonstrable mental or emotional problems at the time of the charge and though she had a long standing personality problem, this would not qualify as being under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (R 179).

It is the trial court's duty to decide if mitigators have been established by competent, substantial evidence and to resolve conflicts in evidence in the punishment phase of a Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4 (Fla. capital murder trial. 1992). A mitigating circumstance against the death penalty must be reasonably established by the greater weight of the evidence. Nibert v. State, 574 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1990). Mitigating evidence must be weighed in the balance when the record discloses it to be both believable and uncontroverted. Santos v. State, The decision as to whether a 591 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 1991). mitigating circumstance has been established is within the trial court's discretion and reversal is not warranted simply because the appellant draws a different conclusion. Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992). The mental or emotional disturbance

mitigator in this case has not been established by competent, substantial evidence. No evidence was presented to demonstrate any causal connection between Wuornos' personality disorder and the murder of Mr. Carskaddon. Nothing in the record demonstrates that such disorder would lead to mental or emotional disturbance or that such disturbance even occurred. That it occurred at all is controverted by Wuornos' statement that she killed her victims in cold blood and by the reports of the psychologists indicating the absence of any on-going psychotic process or thought disturbance which would mitigate her responsibility to control her behavior and that the personality disorder would not qualify her as being under the influence of extreme mental or emotional The mitigator is properly not applied where there equivocation and reservation in testimony concerning a defendant's mental state. Sanchez-Velesco v. State, 570 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1990). Evidence is only mitigating if in fairness or in the totality of a defendant's life or character, it may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of culpability for the crime committed. Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1991). No evidence having been established that Wuornos acted under mental or emotional disturbance, the bare existence of a personality disorder unrelated to the act of murder would be worth next to nothing even considered in a nonstatutory manner and would hardly have weighed Any error in not so considering sentencing balance. evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See, Stewart v. State, 620 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 1993).

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